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Preface


The year 2012 marks the tercentenary of the publication of Sir Robert Atkyns’ The Ancient and Present State of Glostershire. The book was published posthumously as Atkyns had died in 1711. Since the time of its publication it has been a major source of information for historians tracing the ownership of manors, the lineage of the county’s gentry and the details of early monastic holdings. Samuel Rudder often quoted it word for word when treating these matters in his A New History of Gloucestershire, published in 1779. The book is also of great value to historical geographers because it contains information on such topics as land use, population totals and housing numbers for each parish of the county, as well as providing details of the principal houses, markets, industry and commerce of the time.


Because Atkyns followed a parish by parish survey and was concerned with the particulars of each parish rather than with a county-wide sweep, it has often been necessary to scan all 859 pages to gain an impression of the state of Gloucestershire at the time. So in celebration of his work an attempt has been made to collate and synthesise his information and to present it thematically, considering in turn the background of the main features that contribute to our image of the landscape in the early eighteenth century. The landscape is continually changing and the scene in Atkyns’ day was just one stage in its long development. Some attention has therefore been given to the ‘ancient state’ of the county, where possible using Atkyns’ book as a primary source. Thus one chapter has been devoted to the Domesday survey and another to the monastic holdings in the county, chapters which are largely supported by his assembled records. He writes little about Saxon and Norman Gloucestershire, and for chapters on these periods other sources have been required, including visible features in the present-day landscape.


Atkyns wrote before the impact of turnpike roads, canals and then railways had been felt; Parliamentary Enclosure of the common open fields had scarcely begun; Cheltenham consisted of a single street, and industry depended essentially on hand labour and water power. It was a very different world from today’s, yet the legacy of Atkyns’ Gloucestershire is still with us and wherever possible attention has been drawn to what remains from those far-off days. A thematic approach to the present-day landscape, as distinct from that of the early eighteenth century, is provided in my Landscape of Gloucestershire, published by Tempus in 2006.


Atkyns’ book, once scarce and very expensive, is now widely accessible because the Gloucestershire County Library has made copies of the 1974 reprint available to all its branch libraries.


There have been many adjustments to the county boundary since 1712: some parishes, particularly in the north and east of the county, have been transferred to other counties and others have been added to Gloucestershire. To simplify comparisons with statistics for the present day, the county considered here is the one established in the 1974 reorganisation. Those parishes which were then lost to Avon have not been included, and it has not been possible to include much information on the parishes added to the county since The Ancient and Present State of Glostershire was published because there is no equivalent source to Atkyns’. In all, 243 parishes have been included in this study.


Gloucester was by far the most important settlement in the county in the early eighteenth century and Atkyns devotes the first quarter of his book to that city. The remainder of the county he treats in an alphabetical arrangement of parishes. In his own preface he explains some of his reasons for writing and to this we turn in the first chapter.




1


Sir Robert Atkyns
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The south transept of St Kenelm’s Church, Sapperton, is dominated by the huge floor-to-ceiling memorial to Sir Robert Atkyns. His stone effigy is life-size and represents him reclining in an elegant pose. Beneath his left hand is a book, much smaller than the folio size of his own, and he is surrounded by flamboyant decoration, which includes figures symbolising Justice and Prudence (fig. 1). The inscription behind the effigy pays tribute to his character and influence, and ends with a prophetic reference to that ‘more durable memorial The Ancient and Present State of Glostershire’. An engraving of Sir Robert by Michael van der Gucht, who produced engravings of many notable people of the day, is included in the book and shows him as plump, full faced, bewigged and clean shaven (fig. 2). The effigy in the church bears a good likeness to it.


The ownership succession of the county’s manors is a prominent theme in the book and Atkyns records the lineage of many landowning families. His own ancestry included several distinguished lawyers, some of whom held high legal positions in the country. The family came from Monmouthshire and the earliest reference is to a Thomas Atkyns, who died in 1401. A fourth generation descendant of his, David, a merchant from Chepstow, moved to Tuffley on the south side of Gloucester and died there in 1552. His son, also named Thomas, a judge, acquired the manor of Brickhampton in Churchdown parish, and the latter’s son, Richard, bought two more manors, one on either side of the River Severn at Hempstead and at Morecot in Minsterworth parish, as well as other lands in the county. He died in 1610 and was buried in Hempstead church. His colourfully painted stone effigy, portraying him in judge’s robes, rests on a table tomb bearing the Atkyns’ coat of arms. A grandson, another Richard, was the last to live in Tuffley. He was educated at the Crypt School in Gloucester and became a colonel in the army of Charles I, raising his own troop of cavalry. Financial problems forced him to sell the estates, which were then purchased by an uncle, Sir Edward Atkyns. Edward’s eldest son, Robert, became Chief Baron of the Exchequer and was knighted in 1660. He died in 1709, aged 88, and his son was the Sir Robert Atkyns whose writings we are considering. The latter was born in 1647 at Monken Hadley in Hertfordshire, at a time when the visible, social and political effects of the Civil War were still fresh. He matriculated at St Edmund Hall, Oxford, in 1663 and in that same year was knighted by Charles II. He was called to the bar at Lincoln’s Inn in 1668 and became the MP for Cirencester from 1679 to 1685, and then for Gloucestershire between 1685 and 1687. After the change in government in 1688, his retirement from public office gave him the leisure time to prepare for writing his book. He often stayed in London and was able to put his legal expertise and privileged position to good use in extracting much information on landownership and family succession from records held in various archives in the city. His epitaph records that his death at Westminster on 29 November 1711 was caused by dysentery. He had married Louise Carteret of Hawns (or Haynes) in Bedfordshire in 1669. She outlived him by five years and had the splendid monument to his memory erected in Sapperton church. They had no children.
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Fig. 1 Sir Robert Atkyns’ huge memorial in the south transept of St Kenelm’s Church, Sapperton.
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Fig. 2 The title pages to The Ancient and Present State of Glostershire. The engraving of Sir Robert Atkyns is by Michael van der Gucht who came to London from Antwerp in the 1680s and engraved portraits of many important people, including Charles II and Daniel Defoe.
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Fig. 3 Pinbury Park. This secluded house near Sapperton was once the Gloucestershire home of Sir Robert Atkyns.
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Fig. 4 The engraving by Jan Kip of Sapperton Manor in 1712. Its features are discussed in the text.


Sir Robert Atkyns briefly inherited much of his father’s estate, though the two did not agree on political and other matters. At different times the family had held manors at Coates, Daglingworth, Hempstead, Lower Swell, Minsterworth, Pinbury, Sapperton, South Cerney and Tuffley, and Sir Robert Atkyns had himself bought the manor of Bisley and shared the ownership of the island of Sark. He was a well-to-do country gentleman.


While writing his book, Atkyns’ Gloucestershire residence was Pinbury Park, a secluded small country house (fig. 3). Today, it is hidden a mile away from the nearest road, but then an old road from Cirencester to Gloucester, via Bisley and Painswick, passed within sight of the house. It is in a beautiful wooded setting, overlooking the upper Frome valley, just over a mile from Sapperton village where his father’s house stood.


His father’s home, Sapperton Manor, was originally built for the Poole family in the early seventeenth century and then bought from Sir Henry Poole in c.1660 by Sir Robert Atkyns (sen.), together with several other manors. It is illustrated in The Ancient and Present State of Glostershire by an engraving by the Dutch artist Jan Kip (fig. 4).


The engraving shows it to have been a very grand building, rather overpowering in its setting. Of its three-storey frontage of six bays, three bays project slightly and rise to unusual curved finials; the other three have typical Cotswold gables. At the rear are five gables, and a service wing with numerous chimneys has been built on the valley side. The lawn in front of the house is shown as a bowling green and from this level ground the land slopes down to the River Frome. On the far side of the meandering river the woods rise steeply, as they do today. Close to the house the much smaller church is carefully drawn, with its transepts and recessed spire, and behind the house and beyond the gardens and gatehouse, a tree-lined avenue extends far into the distance. There is a similar avenue at right angles to this, now known as the Bishop’s Walk. The cottage to the rear of the church is probably the same property that, in 1903, the craftsman/architect Ernest Barnsley adapted for his own home, Upper Dorvel House. Two other small cottages mark the track that led down to Sapperton Mill, and beyond these another country house occupies a site further up the valley and quite near to the valley floor. There is no house like it today and it probably represents Pinbury Park, incorrectly located. The bridleway north-east of Sapperton church is shown as a rutted road, with Kip’s trademark ‘coach and six’ approaching the village. Atkyns’ typical reference is to a ‘large stone house near the church’.
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Fig. 5 The site of Sapperton Manor today. The flat surface in the foreground is the former bowling green and the low grassy mound is all that remains of the house. The church has a broach spire, which the engraving shows as recessed.


Sapperton Manor was demolished in the early 1730s, only two decades after the engraving was made, and a grassy mound of rubble behind the church marks its former site (fig. 5). The unusually flat surface beside the mound was the bowling green in the engraving. Some of the Jacobean woodwork of the manor house is now in the church and some of its stonework, including window and door frames, was reused by Lord Bathurst in constructing the folly, Alfred’s Hall, in Cirencester Park.


Part of the stimulus to write The Ancient and Present State of Glostershire came from Atkyns’ access to the notes of the Revd Dr Richard Parsons. Parsons was vicar of Driffield and between 1677 and 1711 was also Chancellor of the Gloucester diocese. He had collected information on the parishes of the diocese by sending questionnaires to its clergy and by recording his own observations made on his frequent travels, but poor health had prevented him from publishing his findings. So he passed the information in almost incoherent note form to Atkyns for sorting and completion. In Atkyns he found a like-minded collaborator, sympathetic to the cause of the established church, and not only able to handle the mass of disorganised information loaned to him, but also to extract further details from documentary sources and to add his own from ‘message information’. Unlike Parsons, there is no evidence that Atkyns personally visited all the places he refers to, and his methodology and data presentation are the same whether treating parishes he must have known very well, such as Lower Swell and Sapperton where he had lived, or places less accessible to him on the far west of the county beside the River Wye.


In the preface to his book Atkyns explains that some of its content (particularly that collected by Parsons) would be useful to the Church authorities. The book draws attention to the tithes that should have been received by the Church, the inadequacy of some clergy incomes, the state of church fabric, and places where new church buildings would be advantageous to the local population and also where they might ‘suppress sedicious conventicles’. Atkyns was not in favour of Dissent or of its leaders and, although he recognised that dissenting teachers had gained respect by the way they lived, he thought they had neither the ‘sense or learning’, nor so good a cause, as the Anglican clergy. He quoted with approval the deliberately Protestant statement in the will of Sir William Tracy of Toddington, ‘so that I accept none in heaven or in earth to be mediator between me and God, but only Jesus Christ; and all other to be but as petitioners in receiving of grace, but none able to give influence of grace; and therefore I will bestow no part of my goods for that intent’; and notes that when these words, which implied no bequests to the Church for prayers for the dead, came to the notice of the authorities in 1532, Tracy was viewed as a heretic and his body was exhumed and burnt. Atkyns, like Sir William Tracy, was an advocate of the reformed faith.


There is an entry in his book for every parish in the county and for most parishes he discusses the meaning of its place name. He thought that this would delight the reader by its variety and would ‘recapture antiquarian traditions from oblivion’. Frequently, the meanings Atkyns gives are no more than guesswork; ‘chimerical’ Samuel Rudder called them, but they are still delightfully memorable. His own translations of extracts from Domesday Book are included in many parish entries, as are the relevant parts of Camden’s Britannia. Information on the former monastic connections of parishes was provided by translations of Dugdale’s Monasticon Anglicanum. Atkyns also includes the transcripts of ancient grants and charters, which he thought would be ‘acceptable to all favourers of learning’. The parish entries conclude with details, where available, of trade, battles and curiosities, which would ‘yield speculation to the naturalist, diversion to the inquisitive, and profit to the industrious’. The preface ends with his prayer for the peace and happiness of his county.


Atkyns was strongly patriotic and a staunch supporter of the Stuarts. He confidently expressed the opinion that ‘King James I was the most learned king, King Charles I was the most religious king, King Charles II was the best natured king, and King James II was the best friend’. Furthermore, his loyalty to his county is shown by the submission of his book ‘with pious affection to his neighbours and countrymen’. The book was clearly meant to appeal to the county’s gentry, hence its major emphasis on genealogy and the descent of manor ownership. For historians this assembling of so much family information into a relatively accessible form has been the principal reason for the great value placed on the book. The leading landowning families in the county, the Berkeleys, Giffards, Pauncefootes and Tracys, figure prominently. But Atkyns also wished to convey to his prospective readers a high moral tone. He aimed to do this by recording the names of the benefactors to each parish, with details of the money, land and property given to support the Church and the poor, and to provide education for children and apprenticeships for young men. This was designed, at least in part, to encourage others to charitable actions and to shame those who, in Atkyns’ view, had avoided their responsibilities.


By the early eighteenth century the writing of county histories had become fashionable. Sir William Dugdale’s on neighbouring Warwickshire had been published in 1656 and Dr Robert Plot’s on Oxfordshire in 1677, and many others soon followed. But none were more beautifully printed and produced than Atkyns’ work and, through his executors, he was willing to bear the cost of printing the book.
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Fig. 6 An extract from a map of Gloucestershire, probably drawn by Robert Morden, and used by Atkyns.


For each parish he treats, Atkyns begins by describing its location. He does this, he says, in order to assist both the traveller and the home reader. Actually, both types of reader would have some difficulty in finding the place by simply following his instructions. The distances and directions of each parish from Gloucester, the county town, and from the two nearest market towns are given. So Abenhall, the first parish listed, is located by Atkyns at 1 mile south of Dean (i.e. Mitcheldean), 2 miles north of Newnham and 8 miles west of Gloucester. In fact, Little London in Longhope parish is 8 miles west of Gloucester, Flaxley is 2 miles north of Newnham, and Abenhall is south-east, not south, of Mitcheldean. Atkyns’ directions, using the four cardinal points of the compass, are very approximate and he was writing before the length of the mile had been standardised. Statute miles were not established until 1766, and Atkyns’ miles are about one and a half times longer than statute miles. It seems likely that he was using a small-scale map to obtain these details, because some places near the lower Severn are located with reference to market towns on both sides of the river. Thus Lydney is located by miles measured directly from Newnham and Berkeley, Berkeley being on the opposite side of the river; and Saul is located by reference to Newnham and Dursley, Newnham being on the right bank of the river. To actually travel by road between them would have meant a much longer journey to cross the river upstream at Gloucester. It has been suggested that he used Robert Morden’s county map in order to make these measurements of mileage and to ascertain directions. This map is included with the collection of engravings in The Ancient and Present State of Glostershire and had been originally published in a later edition of Camden’s Britannia (fig. 6).


Twenty-three market towns within the county and ten from outside are used as parish location reference points. Gloucester is used for all parishes and the other most popular reference points are Cheltenham (43 times), Cirencester (39 times), Northleach (38 times) and Winchcombe (32 times). Cheltenham’s central place status is surprising because it was smaller than many other towns, ranking thirteenth in the county at the time, with a population of only 1,500, and the new turnpike roads to Cheltenham, which significantly improved its accessibility, were still a century away.


A traveller in the early eighteenth century could occasionally find help from signposts at road junctions. These were just beginning to appear, having been officially ordered in 1697. But local benefactors had already provided some for the benefit of travellers, and the oldest surviving example is Nathaniel Izod’s finger post on the London to Worcester road, now the A44, near Chipping Campden. This had been erected in 1669, again with non-statute miles. Another, the stone pillar signpost at Teddington Hands, was originally erected by Edmund Attwood in 1676 (see plate 1). Atkyns also mentions, as a reference point, the Four Shire Stone near Moreton-in-Marsh (see plate 32), which marked the boundary between the counties of Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, Warwickshire and Worcestershire the latter being represented by the parish of Evenlode, which was transferred to Gloucestershire in 1931. Milestones were not generally introduced until the establishment of turnpike roads and were then often used as a means of familiarising local people with statute miles.


Place names provided another early way of locating places. Many of these names were originally descriptions of the physical appearance of the place and, as the late Margaret Gelling has often indicated, a traveller understanding the place name would know when he or she had arrived. Naturally, when the name included a reference to land use this applied primarily to the time when the name was first given, but patterns of land use often continued for centuries. As noted above, Atkyns normally gives the derivation of the place name using his knowledge of the Saxon language. In some cases he is accurate but other suggestions are wildly speculative, such as Akeman Street referring to the road to Bath, where those with aches and pains could find a cure. Interestingly, Defoe, writing a few years later, gives the same interpretation, that of a man of aching limbs travelling to Bath or ‘Achmanchester’ for treatment. Atkyns realised that some early interpretations of place names were purely fictitious, such as the derivation of Lechlade from the teaching of Latin to complement the teaching of Greek at Cricklade. But he is mistaken in thinking that a place name with the suffix -field implies a former battlefield, and that the suffix -comb means a hill. Witcombe does not mean a white hill but a wide valley, and can be recognised as such in the landscape. Neither does the prefix win-, as in Winstone, imply a former successful battle, nor does Dymock mean a shaded oak wood. Winstone is derived from the Saxon ‘Winna’s stone’ and Dymock is thought to be a Welsh name referring either to a pigsty or possibly a fort.


He also gives the name of the hundred in which the parish was located. Hundreds were subdivisions of the county and notionally of 100 hides, a hide being 120 acres or the area an eight-ox plough team could cultivate. At the time there were twenty-three hundreds in the county but they were not always compact, and some, such as the Berkeley hundred, had scattered parishes, with Ashleworth and Coberley particularly distant examples. Wherever possible he also names the river that flows through or beside the parish.


The condition of road surfaces in the early eighteenth century was generally poor. The first turnpike road, which had been opened between Gloucester and Birdlip in 1698, was established specifically because the earlier road was ‘so bad’ and the turnpike was designed to raise money to pay for its repair. One bequest for road repairs that Atkyns records was made by a benefactor from Ashchurch, near Tewkesbury. Above the pulpit in St Nicholas’ Church is a monument to William Ferrers, who was born in the parish but made good in London, and died there in 1625. The inscription giving details of his bequests to the parish includes these words: ‘to ye mending of ye Highways abowt Fiddington … £5 yearly for ever’.


A number of roads crossing the Cotswolds are referred to as ‘great roads’. Their steep descent into the Severn valley was evidently more significant for Atkyns than the slow ascent, and he lists the succession of hills down which these difficult journeys were made. In a north to south sequence these were Campden Hill on the London to Worcester road, Winchcombe Hill between Stow and Tewkesbury, Crickley Hill on the Oxford to Gloucester road, Birdlip Hill on the London to Gloucester ‘great road’, Rodborough Hill between the Cotswolds and Purton Passage, and Nympsfield Hill on the Bath to Gloucester road. Some of the names given to these steep descents are of settlements far distant from the actual hill.


Details of the passages across the River Severn are also included. These were at Tewkesbury (Lower Lode), Haw, Framilode, Newnham and Purton, and he mentions that Alvington had been of ‘considerable account until the ferry moved to Beachley’. There was also a ferry across the River Avon at Twyning. Westgate Bridge at Gloucester was the lowest bridge on the River Severn. Other bridges he mentions are St John’s Bridge, near the head of navigation of the River Thames at Lechlade; Chepstow Bridge, a high wooden bridge over the River Wye with half in Gloucestershire and half in Monmouthshire; Maisemore Bridge over the west branch of the River Severn; King John’s Bridge over the River Avon at Tewkesbury; the stone bridge over the River Coln at Coln St Aldwyns; Battle Bridge at Chipping Campden, and Bearidge (Barrow) Bridge over the River Churn near Bagendon. Isaac Taylor’s one-inch-to-the-mile map of Gloucestershire in 1777 shows many more bridges over Cotswold rivers than the four included in this list. At Tetbury, Atkyns refers to a very high, long bridge. This was probably the sixteenth-century causeway of the Wiltshire Bridge. The Bath Bridge at Tetbury dates from 1775, and replaced the packhorse bridge of 1622, which still remains down beside it. Most of these bridges have been rebuilt since the early eighteenth century, and some on more than one occasion.


Safety in travel was a major concern at the time and Atkyns informs his readers that the Forest of Dean had been ‘a notorious harbour for robbers’. This was a long-standing issue, for the dense woodland had been a favoured hiding place for thieves, and there had been an Act of Parliament as early as 1426 to curb these outrages. There were already roadside inns to provide refreshment for both travellers and their horses. The inns specifically mentioned in the book include the long-gone Crown Inn in Northleach and the Frogmill at Shipton Solers on the Oxford to Gloucester road. Atkyns thought that Newent derived its name from a New Inn, which provided accommodation for travellers to Wales (the name is now thought to mean a new place), and he tells of the theft of a carved figure from St George’s Church at Cam, to be used as a sign for a George Inn on the road to London. There was also a George Inn recorded at Haresfield and another inn built by Sir Giles (Parsons names him Miles) Tame at Barnsley. The number of inns increased after the roads were turnpiked and coach travel expanded.


The other means of long-distance transport was by boat. Atkyns informs us that the River Severn was navigable through the county and that from Lechlade, Cheshire cheeses, corn and other commodities were sent to London by boat along the River Thames – why Cheshire cheese rather than Double Gloucester cheese is not explained (see plate 29). There were no canals as yet, although some thought was being given to straightening river channels in order to improve navigation.


Atkyns makes no attempt at describing the appearance of the county and was very restricted in his use of adjectives to convey an impression of its landscape features, but his survey of all the parishes includes so much detail that it is possible to reconstruct a general understanding of the county’s varied appearance in the early eighteenth century. The engravings by Jan Kip, which accompany the text, give good architectural details of the principal houses and often include nearby features and so help in this task of reconstruction. But before we can begin this reconstruction from Atkyns’ contemporary information some preliminary phases of landscape development need to be considered, the first being that of the Saxon era.




2


The Saxon Imprint
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In his own day Sir Robert Atkyns was concerned with the ancient as well as the present state of Gloucestershire, and so in the next four chapters we will look at the most significant of these earlier development phases. The first, on the formation of the Saxon landscape, will also assist in understanding the information contained in Domesday Book, which will be discussed in the following chapter.


Atkyns writes little about the legacy of Saxon times, other than in his fallible interpretation of the meanings of Saxon place names. Descriptive place names are of great value in reconstructing past landscapes for two main reasons. First, the names are likely to have been given by neighbours rather than by residents of the places, who had no need of a reference name for their home, and as a result are more objective. They do not have the bias of some historical documents and the names may even have distinctly uncomplimentary meanings – neither Quedgley (a dirt clearing) nor Slimbridge (a bridge over a slimy place) were attractive names. Secondly, they provide an even distribution of information across the whole county, without the gaps that would appear if surviving documents were the only available resources. The main wooded, arable and pasture areas, places noted for particular types of tree, crop or livestock, as well as places with significant physical features, may all be identified by their Saxon names. Common place name suffixes of -ley (a clearing), -ton (a farm or estate) and -field (an open pasture) and prefixes referring to cattle and sheep, trees and crops give typical land use information, and the suffixes -don (a low round hill), -combe (a short steep-sided valley) and -dean (a long tapering valley) describe common landforms.


Endings in -ley are often found along the Cotswold escarpment and near to the Forest of Dean and, because the clearings usually refer to clearings in woodland, they indicate that these areas were at one time heavily wooded. Both the Cotswolds and the Vale have many place names ending in -ton, where the prefix may indicate the farming emphasis as in Shipton (sheep) or Barton (barley).


Atkyns also makes brief references to several Saxon rulers, but he was not concerned with the way in which their decisions may have contributed to the evolution of the man-made landscape. Yet, as we shall see, the patterns of markets, monasteries and the oldest churches, landscape elements with which he was certainly interested, as well as such features as ancient hedgerows, early parish boundaries and the ridge and furrow now seen in old pastureland, were initiated in this period. Most villages and many footpaths have their roots set firmly in the Saxon landscape. So it was a very formative period for the visual appearance of the county.


Once Christianity had been given imperial support by Constantine in the early fourth century, its spread was officially unhindered throughout the Roman world. And it is likely that there was some limited continuity into post-Roman Gloucestershire of the Christianity of the late Roman world, especially in the towns of Cirencester and Gloucester and on the Cotswold villa estates. However, the sixth-century invasion by pagan Saxons and the survival of earlier folk religion meant that, three centuries after the collapse of Rome, most of the evangelising of Saxon Gloucestershire came from outside the area rather than from within the county. Contrasting ecclesiastical practices as well as architectural features were thereby introduced, some coming from the Roman tradition of the south-east of England and others from the Irish tradition via Iona and Northumbria. Highly significant to this early growth of Christianity was the welcome given to missionaries by the ruling Saxon royal families. By the seventh century, cultural and economic links had been established between these rulers and both southern Europe and the western islands and peninsulas of Europe, whence the two traditions of Christianity had spread.


Between the seventh and early tenth centuries impressive visible signs of Christianity began to appear in the landscape. These were the minsters, usually referred to as ‘monasteria’ in contemporary documents. Minsters were communities of varied combinations of priests, monks and nuns, living in enclosed and consecrated areas, each with its church or several axially aligned churches, living accommodation, workshops and farms. They were usually endowed by Saxon royalty or by their wealthy thegns. Both minsters in Gloucester had royal endowments. St Peter’s, the forerunner of the cathedral, was founded in 679 by Osric, sub-king of the Hwicce, with his sister Kyneburga as abbess, and the minster that later became St Oswald’s Priory was founded in c.900 by Aethelflaeda, daughter of King Alfred (see plate 2). The minster at Winchcombe was founded in 798 by King Kenulf, with his daughter Quendryth as abbess, and a previous minster there had been endowed by King Offa in 787. These early kings valued Christian learning and morality, and the minsters they endowed were expressions of that appreciation. Saxon kings also granted land to thegns for founding smaller and lay dominated minsters. The latter were rather despised for their lack of clerical status by the contemporary ecclesiastical historian Bede, as is indicated by this sharp comment about them in one of his letters: ‘wasps can make combs but store poison in them not honey’.


Initially, the minster may have been primarily for the benefit of the founder and his or her family, perhaps as a long-term investment to avoid taxes, but pastoral care was soon extended to include the local population, and the territories served by the first minsters expanded until, in some instances, they corresponded to the later hundreds, the large units of land which incorporated several parishes. At that stage, within a radius of 3 to 5 miles, the minster provided pastoral care for the whole district. Priests travelled from the minsters to the surrounding rural settlements to preach the gospel and to teach the people, and to the minsters the local population came for the baptism of their children, to celebrate the mass and to bury their dead. So the minster’s location was often selected with this purpose in mind. We know of about twenty minsters in the territory of present-day Gloucestershire, some in the fertile lowlands of the Severn Valley and others on the Cotswolds. Along the Severn, from north to south, they were at Ripple, just over the county boundary in Worcestershire, Twyning, Tewkesbury, Deerhurst, two at Gloucester, and Berkeley; near the foot of the Cotswolds were those at Winchcombe, Bishop’s Cleeve, Cheltenham (possibly Prestbury), Dowdeswell and Frocester; and scattered across the Cotswolds, some in the valleys and others on the hilltops, were those at Blockley, Stow-on-the-Wold, Daylesford, Withington, Bibury, Cirencester, Bisley and Tetbury. There may have been others west of the River Severn.


The actual sites for minsters were chosen and the land consecrated after prayer and fasting, and the sites are often found to possess common features. Typical physical site factors are small hills within generally sheltered valleys, where the present-day church stands on land above the surrounding houses, most notably at Winchcombe and Withington; fertile and well-drained river terraces above the flood plain of the Severn, as at Twyning, Tewkesbury and Deerhurst, where even the severe flooding of July 2007, despite much nearby property damage, scarcely reached the church doors; and locations with easy access to navigable rivers, as at Twyning, Tewkesbury, Gloucester and Berkeley. Human site factors include places clearly associated with Roman ruins, as at Cirencester, Frocester and Gloucester; sites adjacent to or within prehistoric remains, such as the Iron Age forts at Stow-on-the-Wold and Tetbury; and the meeting places of earlier pagan cults. These human factors gave to the minsters a sense of continuity with the past, which often incorporated folk status, and in the case of Roman ruins, provided readily available building materials for the new churches. The latter point should not be stressed, however, as building materials from Roman sites were often transported considerable distances.


The ditches and earthen banks enclosing the minsters were sometimes those of an Iron Age fort, as at Tetbury, but most were newly formed and were symbolic of separation from the world, rather than designed for defence. Although the place name suffix -bury, from the Anglo-Saxon ‘burh’, frequently means a fort, it can also mean an enclosed space and thus may signify a former minster, especially if it is linked to a female name prefix. As examples, the name Tetbury, Tette’s burh, comes from the Tettan burig or Tettan monastirium of seventh-century documents, and Bibury comes from Beagan burig, where in the eighth century the Bishop of Worcester made a grant of land to Beage, daughter of Earl Leppa. If the enclosure was walled or fortified, often using older Roman structures, the suffix -ceistir was used, as in Cirencester, Frocester and Gloucester. The shapes of the minster enclosures were sometimes square or rectangular, as the earthen banks at Deerhurst still show, and sometimes circular, as is probably indicated by the lane which surrounds the church and its cluster of related buildings at Bisley.


With their concentrations of population and buildings, minsters soon became economically significant. Here the local agriculture, which provided food for the minster’s population, became more intensive, and the occasional surplus produce could be sold. Early technology was developed for the watermills, which processed the minster’s corn, and crafts were expanded to produce useful domestic items and tools. Trade in salt, transported along the various saltways, was also stimulated, and soon many minsters became market places. Marketing brought income to the minster or to its secular lord. So minsters became the first Saxon central places, although it should be noted that their religious functions predated their economic importance. The five market towns of Gloucestershire that are recorded as such in Domesday Book – Berkeley, Cirencester, Gloucester, Tewkesbury and Winchcombe – had all been minsters, another five minster sites had market charters at a later date, and the other manors that had minsters were usually those with large landholdings and high values in the Domesday record.


The sphere of influence of a Saxon minster has been identified in some parts of England by marking the settlement place names ending in -ton that surround a central -bury, but this does not seem to apply to Gloucestershire. Invariably the area included several neighbouring settlements, where dependent local churches were later erected and to which early paths were developed. Bisley well illustrates this point, as will be discussed later. Nearby place names ending in -cote and Domesday Book entries with a large proportion of bordars (smallholders) also imply central settlements with significant early economic activity. Such economic prosperity further attracted the attention of royalty and thegns. So Earl Odda acquired a plot of land beside Deerhurst minster and at an earlier date King Kenulf had come to reside at Winchcombe, in both cases after the original minsters had been established.

OEBPS/css/page-template.xpgt
 

 
	 
		 
	

	 
		 
	

	 
		 
	

	 
		 
	

	 
		 
				 
			 
				 
		
	



 
	 






OEBPS/images/pg9_img1.jpg





OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
YEARS AGO

ALAN PILBEAM






OEBPS/images/pg10_img1.jpg





OEBPS/images/pg8_img1.jpg





OEBPS/images/pg8_img2.jpg
[| Ancincand pctene ||

ST A TE
| or

(GLOSTERSHIRE,

By St ROBERT ATKYNS.






OEBPS/images/pg14_img1.jpg
an?

‘;N(»n .






OEBPS/images/logo.jpg
st
istor
Pressry





OEBPS/images/common.jpg





OEBPS/images/pg11_img1.jpg





